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A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER 

Charles Farnswmih asks this Couti to deny the State's request to 

review the Couti of Appeals decision ten11inating review pursuant to 

RAP 13.3(a)(l) and RAP 13.4(b). Ifreview is granted, Mr. Farnsworth 

asks the Co uti to review the issues relating the fairness of his trial and 

legality ofhis sentence. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals decision was issued on October 28, 2014. 

The State's motion for reconsideration was denied on January 13, 2015, 

but the court cmTected a typographical enor. A copy of the Couti of 

Appeals opinion as amended is attached as Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The Legislature distinguishes between theft, defined as a 

wrongful taking fl·om a person, and robbery, which is a theft 

accomplished by the use or threat of immediate force. After reviewing 

the record, the Court of Appeals detern1ined that when 70-year-old 

James McFarland went into a bank wearing an ill-fitting ladies \:vig and 

presented a note to put money in the bag but said nothing, he did not 

use or threaten immediate force. It concluded that his conduct, and 

Charles Farnsworth's reluctant assistance in this taking, constituted a 



theft. The State seeks review, claiming that any effort to steal money 

inside a bank is so inherently threatening that it is robbery. Does the 

Couti of Appeals decision applying well-established law to find the 

State's evidence proved theft, but not robbery, merit review? 

2. If review is granted, this Couti should also review whether 

the cumulative effect of the trial court's rulings violated Farnswmih's 

right to a fair trial, including a meaningful opportunity to present a 

defense. The trial court restricted cross-examination that would 

discredit the central State's witness, admitted evidence lacking 

probative value that cast Farnsworth as dangerous and crude, 

commented on his right to remain silent, and made Farnswmih appear 

in comi in a way that negatively impacted the presumption of 

innocence and appearance of fairness. These issues should be reviewed 

if the State's petition is granted because they are central to assessing the 

fairness of the proceedings and the weight given the testimony on 

which the State's petition rests. 

3. When a person receives a sentence oflife without the 

possibility of parole based on an out-of-state conviction, the Sixth and 

Foutieenth Amendments as wel1 as controlling statutes require the State 

proves the conviction is comparable to a most serious ofTense in 
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Washington. The State alleged that a 1984 California conviction was 

comparable to vehicular homicide, but it offered an ambiguous 

conviction fonn that did not show the essential factual or legal elements 

of that prior conviction. Additionally, this State defined vehicular 

homicide in 1984 to require drunk driving caused the fatality but 

California did not have this requirement. Based on the insufficient 

factual proof and legal incompatibility of the Califomia conviction, 

should this Court review whether Famsworth's conviction serves as a 

pennissible basis for a sentence oflife without parole? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Wearing an "auburn wig" and "really big glasses with 

diamonds," bearing the grizzled face of an almost 70-year old long­

tenn heroin user, and walking with a limp, James McFarland waited in 

line to sec a teller at a bank at three o'clock one aftemoon. 9RP 436, 

440; llRP 716; 14RP 1262-63; Ex. 31. 1 When it was his tum. he 

approached a teller and pushed a note toward her. 9RP 481. He did not 

speak. 9RP 485. He did not display a weapon. 9RP 531. The note told 

her to put money in a bag, although he did not have a bag. 9RP 484. 

1 Ex. 31 is the subject of a motion to supplement the record and is attached as 
App. B. 
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The teller was familiar with bank policy that instructed her to 

give McFarland what he asked for "as quick as possible." 9RP 486. She 

did not have any cash in her drawer, so she walked to the drive-up 

window and reached for the smaller denominations. 9RP 495, 526, 532-

33. When she handed the money to McFarland, he said, "thank you," 

and walked out. 9RP 486. 

The plan to steal money from the bank arose some weeks either, 

when Charles Farnsw01ih claimed he would rob a bank for money to 

buy heroin. 13RP 1203. But Farnsworth was "hem-hawing," and 

''making excuses" to avoid stealing from a bank. 13RP 1232. 

McFarland decided Farnsworth "wasn't going to do it." 13RP 1231. 

McFarland "got mad." and "snatched the wig" from Farnsworth, saying 

''You ain't going to do nothing." 13RP 1233. McFarland understood 

F arnsw01ih had "backed out." 13 RP 1239, 1241; 14 RP 1306. Before 

going into the bank, people had seen Farnsw01ih and Mcfarland trying 

to ride a bicycle around the parking lot, both appearing drunk and 

incapable of staying on the bike. llRP 769,777. Mcfarland put on the 

wig and told Farnsworth, "I'll be back in two minutes." 14RP 1306-07. 
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The teller was very shaken up after the incident but at the time it 

occurred, she was focused on following bank policy to keep the note 

and get him out as soon as possible. 9RP 484, 531, 534. 

Facing a sentence oflife without the possibility of parole if 

convicted of robbery, McFarland pled guilty to robbery and theft, under 

the condition that atler he testifies against Famswmih, the State would 

strike the robbery. 14RP 1258-59; 14RP 1397-99. But the trial court 

refused Farnswmih's request to cross-examine McFarland about the 

tenns of his plea bargain when McFarland denied he pled guilty to 

robbery and still needed the State to void that conviction to avoid a life 

sentence. l5RP 1396-99. 

Farnsworth was convicted of first degree robbery. CP 661. He 

received a life sentence based on the trial couri's finding that his 1984 

California vehicular conviction was comparable to Washington's 

vehicular homicide. CP 695-707. 

The Court of Appeals ruled that the evidence produced at trial 

constituted proof of that Farnsworth was an accomplice to first degree 

theft, not first degree robbery, which was a lesser offense on which the 

jmy was instructed. Slip op. at 9. The Court of Appeals did not reach 

the sentencing issues because he did not face a persistent offender 
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sentence for first degree theft. !d. at 20. The facts are futiher discussed ..... 

in the Opening Brief, Supplemental Opening Brief~ and Reply Brief, 

and are incorporated herein by this reference. 

E. ARGUMENT. 

1. Whether the threat of force occurs during an effort 
to steal money from a bank teller is a factual 
question appropriately resolved by the Court of 
Appeals 

a. The Court ofAppeals applied established lmv to address 
the Stf[ficiency of the evidence in a particular case, ·which 
is not an issue meriting rel'iew. 

The Comi of Appeals applied well-established law to determine 

the prosecution had not met its burden of proving all essential elements 

of robbery. Its fact-specific resolution of the case does not merit review. 

The State claims a conflict with State 1'. Collinsworth, 90 

Wn.App. 546, 548- 550, 966 P.2d 905 (1997), but in that case, the 

various bank tellers in multiple counts at issue testified that they 

perceived the defendant's actions as threatening, and either thought the 

defendant had a weapon, it seemed like he had one, or believed he was 

actually threatening hann if they did not comply. Most significantly, 

Collinsworth involved a bench trial and trial comi entered unchallenged 

findings of fact that the tellers "were fearful of immediate injury and 
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would have handed over the money" based on that perceived threat 

without regard for bank policy that directed them to comply with any 

demand for money. !d. at 554. "Unchallenged findings of fact are 

verities on appeal," and the reviewing court relied on these findings. !n 

reA. f'V., _ Wn.2d _, 2015 WL 710549, at *10 (Feb. 19, 2015). 

Unlike Collimworth, no teller said McFarland appeared to have 

a weapon or implied he would hurt them if they did not comply. 

McFarland did not look violent- he wore a woman's wig that did not 

quite fit and ladies sunglasses. 9RP 436, 440, 488. He did not speak in a 

demanding voice or gesture toward a potential weapon. 9RP 528, 531. 

In dicta in Collinsworth, the court opined that any time a person 

steals money from a bank teller, there is an implied threat of force. 90 

Wn.App. at 553. But to the extent the State claims this portion of 

Collinsworth stands for the legal proposition that any theft from a bank 

teller constitutes robbery, the State is mistaken. Robbery is 

distinguished from theft by the essential element of using or threatening 

immediate force or injury as the mechanism for wrongfully obtaining 

property. See, e.g., RCW 9A.56.190; RCW 9A.56.030(l)(b) (defining 

theft in the first degree as wrongfully taking properiy "from the person 

of another" or wrongfully obtaining property worth over $5000). The 
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Legislature purposefully used different language to define the essential 

elements of these offenses. See State 1'. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 

63 P.3d 792 (2003). The added clements that mark robbery as a more 

serious offense subject to increased punishment may not be construed 

as superfluous. 

The federal cases cited by the State are also unavailing. Cases 

decided after Collinsworth unequivocally hold that "the elements of 

federal bank robbery and robbery under Washington's criminal statutes 

are not substantially similar" and therefore "are not legally 

comparable." In re Pers. Restraint ofLareTJ!, 154 Wn.2d 249, 255-56, 

Ill P.3d 837 (2005). Federal bank robbery, 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a), does 

not import the common law definition of robbery. See Carter v. United 

States, 530 U.S. 255,266-67, 120 S.Ct. 2159,2166, 147 L.Ed. 2d 203 

(2000). The federal law does not require an immediate threat of force, 

and thus presents an inapt compmison. 18 U.S.C. § 2113(a). 

The State overstates the holding of Collin.nmrth to manufacture 

a basis for the Comito grant review. McFarland said nothing when 

seeking money, making no verbal demands or potential threats. 9RP 

500. Te11er Van Zuyt testified that she gave McFarland the money 

because bank policy directed her to comply with a demand for money, 
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and she harbored speculative fears, but not because of a threat from 

him. 9RP 486. Being part of any crime is scary but that does not 

establish the use or threat of immediate force. The teller remained calm 

enough to keep the note and choose only small bills and McFarland did 

not complain. The only words McFarland spoke were "thank you" after 

he received the money. 9RP 528. 

The prosecution also nonsensically claims a theft is converted to 

a robbery because Farnswmth and McFarland talked about "robbing a 

bank." But as the Court of Appeals pointed out, people use the term 

robbery loosely, such as when someone breaks into a house, even 

though the law defines such as a crime as a burglary. Slip op. at 5 n.5. 

The Comt of Appeals decision affirming Farnsworth's 

conviction for theft rests on firn1 reasoning and settled law and this 

Court should deny review. The State's desire to pursue a more serious 

charge does not establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b ). 

b. The Court ofAppea!s weighed tlzefactua! testimony 
under~ying accomplice liability based on established lmv 

The Court of Appeals also found insufficient evidence that the 

purported getaway driver, Farnswmth, knowingly aided a forcible 

taking as required to be an accomplice to robbery, rather than theft. Slip 
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op. at 8. Under established law, an accomplice must act with actual 

"knowledge of the specific crime that is eventually charged, rather than 

with knowledge of a different crime or generalized knowledge of 

criminal activity." Jd. at 7 (quoting State v. Holcomb, 180 Wn.App. 

583, 590, 321 P.3d 1288, rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1029 (2014)). 

This Comi recently reiterated this express requirement in State 

v. Allen,_ Wn.2d _, 341 P.3d 268, 273 (2015). Desc1ibing the legal 

threshold to convict an accomplice of first degree premeditated murder, 

the Allen Court said, "the State was required to prove that Allen 

actual~v knew that he was promoting or facilitating Clemmons in the 

commission of first degree premeditated murder." !d. (emphasis 

added)). The prosecution acted improperly by urging a conviction 

based on what the defendant "should have known" rather than his 

"actual knowledge that principal was engaging in the crime eventually 

charged." Jd .. 

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, there was no 

evidence of a plan to use or threaten force. While Farnswmih wanted to 

money and was not opposed to "boosting" or shoplifting from 

unsuspecting stores to steal, he was so disinclined to take money face­

to-face that he kept delaying his claim he would steal from a bank. 
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Farnswm1h "hemmed and hawed," making excuses to avoid donning 

the wig and entering the bank. Finally, McFarland decided Famswm1h 

"wasn't going to do it," and he "snatched the wig" from Farnswot1h, 

saying "you ain't going to do nothing."13RP 1232-33. McFarland 

"made up my mind, I was going because I seen he wasn't."l3RP 1241. 

Then McFarland entered the bank alone, unam1ed, said nothing inside 

the bank other than "thank you," and left with about $300. 9RP 490, 

528. Farnswot1h drove McFarland away from the bank. 1 ORP 570. 

The Com1 of Appeals properly weighed the evidence and 

applied the con·ect legal standards of accomplice liability to conclude 

Mr. Farnswm1h was guilty as an accomplice to theft but did not 

knowingly aid in a forcible, threatening taking from the bank. There is 

no principled basis to grant review based on the application of 

established law to the facts of the case. 

2. By restricting Farnsworth's impeachment of the 
State's central witness, letting the prosecution 
denigrate Farnsworth's character, and allowing 
the jury to infer Farnsworth's dangerousness for 
reasons unrelated to the charged incident, 
cumulative errors denied Farnsworth a fair trial 

If this Cou11 grants the State's petition for review, it should also 

grant review of the numerous improprieties that denied Farnsworth his 
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ability to fairly contest the allegations against him. The Due Process 

Clause "clearly requires a fair trial in a fair tribunal" before an unbiased 

cowi. Bracy''· Gramley, 520 U.S. 899, 904-05, 117 S.Ct. 1793, 1797, 

138 L.Ed.2d 97 ( 1997); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I,§§ 3, 21, 

22. The right to a fair trial bars the State from misusing uncharged 

allegations and guarantees the accused person "the right to put before a 

jmy evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." 

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 

(1987); State v. Mack, 80 Wn.2d 19, 21,490 P.2d 1303 (1971). 

a. The court impermissib~y limited Farnsworth's cross­
examination of the State's central 'Fitness. 

"Cross-examination is the principal means by which the 

believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested," and 

the court may not improperly restrict the accused's cross-examination. 

Dm•is 1'. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308,316,94 S.Ct. 1105,39 L.Ed.2d 347 

(1974); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. I,§ 22. The comi 

impermissibly restricted Farnsworth's etTmis to impeach McFarland. 

McFarland pled guilty under the condition that he testify against 

Farnsworth. McFarland faced a mandatmy "three-strikes" sentence of 

life without the possibility of parole if convicted ofrobbe1y. CP 1; 
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14RP 1259. At the time he testified, he had not been sentenced. 

10/24111 RP 1346. He claimed he pled guilty "only" to the lesser 

offense of theft, and faced eight to ten years in prison. 14RP 134 7-48. 

But McFarland misrepresented his plea bargain to the jury. He 

had pled guilty to first degree robbery and theft, and only after he 

testified against Farnsworth would the prosecution "remove" or 

"vacate" the robbety. 15RP 1397. The prosecution did not cmTect 

McFarland's misrepresentation ofhis plea and the comi refused the 

defense request to admit the guilty plea statement that showed 

McFarland pled guilty to both robbery and theft. 15RP 1400. The jury 

never learned the degree of power the prosecution held over McFarland 

at the time he testified. By refusing to let Famswo1ih use McFarland's 

guilty plea to conect the misimpression placed before the jury about the 

nature of McFarland's guilty plea, the court denied him his right to 

challenge the credibility of the principle witness against him. 

b. The prosecution used uncharged allegations to 
prejudice Fan7SH'ortlz. 

Evidence of uncharged misconduct dilutes the presumption of 

innocence and encourages the jury conclude the accused is a bad 

person. State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916,925,337 P.3d 1090 
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(2014). The State cannot escape the prejudicial impact ofthe prior 

convictions by claiming the information was minimal or that the jury 

received accurate instructions. Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 

88 S.Ct. 1620,20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968) (court cannot assume jury will 

follow comi instruction to disregard prejudicial evidence, as "the 

practical and human limitations ofthejury system cannot be ignored."). 

Over objection, the court let the State offer evidence that 

Farnswmih committed two 2004 robberies while wearing a wig. 3RP 

137-39; 4RP 160, 62. These 2004 convictions were substantially 

different, because Farnsworth acted alone, cmTied a weapon in one 

instance, and stole from fast food restaurants, not banks. 4RP 160-62. 

During its opening statement, the prosecution told the jury about 

Farnswmih 's prior robberies. It said: "you will hear about two robberies 

of fast food restaurants, robberies solely by Farnswmih, and he wore a 

wig and glasses." 1113/llSuppRP 423. It furihcr said to the jury that 

because Farnsworth had used wigs as a "facial disguise" in these 

uncharged robberies, it showed his involvement in the charged crime. 

1 I 13/11 SuppRP 423. Also over objection during trial, the prosecution 

elicited evidence that it was very rare for anyone to rob a bank while 
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wearing a \vig either in 2004, when two prior robberies occmTed, or at 

the time ofthis incident. 15RP 1458. 1461-62, 1473. 

Ultimately, the prosecution did not offer evidence of 

Farnsworth's prior robberies. Farnsworth moved for a mistrial based on 

the State's opening statement, because the prosecution polluted the jury 

by telling them of Farnsworth's convictions without introducing this 

evidence at trial, but the comt denied the motion. 16RP 1675-77. These 

uncharged allegations are the type of evidence that jurors cannot readily 

forget. 

In a fmther effort to unfairly paint Farnsworth as dis1ikeable and 

dangerous based on uncharged conduct, the prosecution elicited 

evidence over objection that McFarland and Farnswot1h were both at 

\\lestem State Hospital. 5RP 1429. According to McFarland, 

Farnsworth "flipped the bird" at him and then "jerked down his pants 

and grabbed his private parts and says 'suck on these you son of a 

bitch."' 15RP 1430. Mcfarland said Farnsworth called him, "a 

tl***]ing stool pigeon." !d. 

ER 404(b) bars the admission of prior acts that are unpopular, 

disgraceful, or even traits of personality; it is not limited to past 

criminal acts. State v. El·erybodyta!ksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 466-68, 39 
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P .3d 294 (2002). Evidence of prior conduct "is inadmissible to show 

that the defendant is a dangerous person or a 'criminal type'." !d. at 

466. Wrongful acts must be more probative than prejudicial. ER 403. 

McFarland made plain his dislike of Farnswmih; he disliked him 

before the incident and these feelings did not change after their anest. 

l4RP 1271. McFarland stmck a plea bargain to avoid a sentence of life 

without the possibility of parole. There was no broader probative value 

in eliciting crude and demeaning behavior by Farnswmih after the 

incident that was likely to sway the jury against him for reasons 

unrelated to the incident. 

c. The court permitted the State to introduce comments 
Farnsworth made to a detective in the course ofthe 
prosecutirm that were.far more prt:judicialthan 
probati\'e. 

Farnswmih was ordered to provide a handwriting sample so the 

prosecution could compare his handwriting with that on the note used 

to steal money from the bank. 13RP 1078. Farnswmih refused to 

comply and the prosecution relied on other handwritten documents for 

its analysis. 12RP 1004-05. But the prosecution introduced evidence 

beyond the mere fact ofF arnsworth' s refusal. 
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The detective who tried to get Farnsworth to submit a 

handwriting sample said Farnsworth complained he had not been 

provided the documents he wanted and said he wanted to consult his 

stand-by counsel. 13RP 1081, 1097. Farnswmih told the detective he 

did not want to cooperate or talk to the detective. 13RP 1080-81. The 

detective testified about how Farnswmih explained his feelings about 

the case and how he had been treated, which exceeds the scope of the 

"real or physical evidence" the detective was permitted to obtain 

without violating Farnswmih's right to remain silent. Schmerber v. 

Caltfornia, 384 U.S. 757,763-64,86 S.Ct. 1826, 1832, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 

(1966); U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. mi. I,§ 9. Farnsworth's 

communications to the detective showed him as obstructionist and 

trouble-making. The fact ofrefusal could be admitted but his remaining 

statements to the detective were improperly elicited at trial in violation 

of Farnswotih 's right to remain silent. 

d. The court permitted F amsworth to appear in court with 
markings ofhis in-custody status. 

''Measures which single out a defendant as a particularly 

dangerous or guilty person threaten his or her constitutional right to a 

fair trial." Srate v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 845, 975 P.2d 967 ( 1999). A 
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person accused of a c1ime "is entitled to have his guilt or innocence 

detennined solely on the basis of the evidence introduced at trial, and 

not on grounds of of1icial suspicion, indictment, continued custody, or 

other circumstances not adduced as proof at trial." Holbrook v. F~)Jnn, 

475 U.S. 560, 567, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 89 L.Ed.2d 525 (1986); U.S. Const. 

amend. 14. The trial judge has "an affim1ative obligation to control the 

courtroom and keep it free of improper influence." Carey''· Musladin, 

549 U.S. 70, 82, 127 S.Ct. 649,656, 166 L.Ed.2d 482 (2006) (Souter, 

J., concurring). 

Over defense objection, Farnsworth was required to sit in a 

wooden chair that was noticeably different from the padded leather 

chairs used hy everyone else in the courtroom. RRP 7-R. The cou1i 

refused to make any changes. 8RP 11-12. The physical indicia of 

innocence is essential to a fair trial. Placing Farnswmth in a hard 

wooden chair that is obviously different from the soft, padded, leather 

chairs everyone else in the comtroom marked him as a guilty person, 

or at least less trustworthy than the others in the comtroom. It detracted 

from the presumption of innocence and appearance of fairness that is 

essential to a fair trial. 

e. Tlze cwnulative error qff'ected the outcome of the case. 
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The "cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial en·or" may 

deprive a person of a fair trial. Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 

637,643,94S.Ct.l868,40L.Ed.2d431 (1974);Statev. Case,49 

Wn.2d 66, 73, 298 P.2d 500 ( 1956). Under the cumulative etTor 

doctrine, the comi must consider the effect of multiple errors and the 

resulting prejudice on an accused person. ld. 

Numerous errors occmTed during Farnswmih's trial and their 

cumulative impact unfairly atiected the outcome of the case, including 

an error in admitting Mcfarland's prior theft conviction to impeach 

him. The Comi of Appeals agreed this etTor occulTed but found it 

ham1less. Slip op. at 14, 19. But the extent of Famswmih's liability for 

McFarland's acts rested on McFarland's testimony and Farnsworth was 

denied his right to effectively cross-examine McFarland about his 

credibility. At the same time, the prosecution pmirayed Famswmib as a 

dislikcablc and dangerous person based on acts that were not part of the 

incident, including his propensity for committing robberies, his crude 

comments to McFarland, and his obstructionist effm1s against the 

prosecution. The court refused to take to ensure that Famsworth 

appeared in comi with the physical indicia of innocence. As the Com1 

of Appeals opinion demonstrates, there was, at best, sparse evidence of 
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a robbery when McFarland never indicated his intent to use immediate 

force when seeking money from the bank. The etTorts to denigrate 

Farnsworth's character and the unreasonable, erroneous limitations on 

his cross-examination of McFarland should be reviewed by this Comi. 

3. The prosecution did not prove the comparability of 
Farnsworth's prior out-of-state conviction. 

The Court of Appeals did not decide whether Farnswmih's 

California conviction was comparable to a Washington most serious 

offense as necessary for a sentence of life without the possibility of 

parole. Because Farnswmih is subject to a three-strikes life sentence if 

his conviction is aftirn1cd, this Comi should grant review on whether 

the State proved the comparability of the out-of-state prior. 

A sentencing judge may increase a person's sentence based on a 

prior conviction only when the legal and factual basis of that conviction 

meet the requirements for heightened punishment. Descamps v. United 

States,_ U.S._, 133 S.Ct. 2276, 186 L.Ed.2d 438 (20 13). Delving into 

the nature of a prior conviction is limited by the Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendments. !d. at 2288. A comi may not '"make a disputed' 

determination 'about what the defendant and state judge must have 

understood as the factual basis of the prior plea,' or what the jury in a 
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prior trial must have accepted as the theory ofthe crime." Id. (quoting 

Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13, 25, 125 S.Ct. 1254, 161 L.Ed.2d 

205 (2005): and citing !d. at 28 (Thomas, J., concuiTing) (stating that 

such a finding would "giv[e] rise to constitutional en·or, not doubt")). 

The State did not prove Mr. Farnswmih's 1984 California 

conviction was a comparable predicate offense as required for a 

sentence of life without the possibility of parole. The judgment on 

conviction shows Mr. Farnswmth pled guilty to "Count 2." Sent. Ex. 7. 

The judgment states: 

I. DEFENDAJ."'T \Y/AS CONVICTED OF TI-IE C0111v1ISSION OF THE FOllOWING 
FELONY: 

~C-0\I .. -T/...,..--/!Jl/-,--1 ~-IICT-1011-ItiJtoi-.-.... -~-,----~-Cit-1._.11:-•;-: -
IT [Pd_l92 ~)) (;) Gebi c ma;s] = : 

Sent. Ex. 7. 

But there is no penal code section PC "192(3 )(c)." Penal Code § 

192 ( c )(3) exists and defines various altematives of committing 

manslaughter, but on its face, the judgment of commitment and 

charging document do not refer to a valid statute, which the State 

concedes. Response Brief at 32. 

The sentencing document states Farnsworth was convicted of 

Count "2." Counts 1 and 2 involved separate victims and different legal 
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elements. Sent. Ex. 5. Count 1 tracks the language ofPenal Code§ 192 

(c)(3), but Count 2 tracks Vehicular Code§ 23153. Thus, the judgment 

cites a non-existent statute that was not the offense charged in Count 2. 

The ambiguity of the judgment and charging document do not establish 

the otTcnse of conviction as required to meet the State's due process 

obligation. Descamps, 133 S.Ct. at 2288. 

More significantly, the legal basis of the California vehicular 

manslaughter statutes (Penal Code§ 192 and Vehicular Code§ 23153) 

are different from the law in effect in Washington at the time of the 

offense. They cannot serve as predicate offenses for persistent offender 

punishement. Lave1y, 154 Wn.2d at 255. Under the version of 

Washington's statute in effect in 1984, vehicular homicide, fom1er 

RCW 46.61.520, required impaim1ent due to alcohol causes the death: 

to avoid a 'strict liability' result, this court and the Court 
of Appeals have engratted on the statute, and have 
consistently held, that impainnent due to alcohol must be 
a proximate cause of the fatal accident." 

State\'. MacMaster, 113 Wn.2d 226, 231, 778 P.2d 1037 (1989). But in 

California, a violation of the traftic law must be the proximate cause of 

death, at a time when the driver was under the influence of alcohol or 

dmgs. In California, while driving under the influence, the driver 

22 



commits another illegal act or neglects a duty, such as a traffic 

violation, this additional "act or neglect" must "proximately cause" 

death or bodily injury. Veh. Code§ 23153(a); Penal Code§ 192(c)(3). 

Because the California law did not require driving under the 

influence proximately caused the resulting death, but Washington 

required this causation, this state's law uses a naiTower essential 

element. The California offense is not legally comparable. See 

J\1acA1aster, 113 Wn.2d at 231; see also Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 258; 

Descamps, 133 S.Ct. 2282 ("the inquiry is over" once a legal 

comparison shows the elements are different). If this CoUJi grants 

review, it should also review the validity of the sentence imposed. 

F. CONCLUSION. 

Charles Farnswotih respectfully requests the Couti deny the 

petition for review. If this Court grant's the petition, the Court should 

also review the fairness ofthe trial and the legality of the sentence . 

. J'---
DATED this LJ day of March 2015. 

Respectfully submitted, 

~C:L 
NANCY P. OLLINS (WSBA 28806) 
Washington Appellate Project (91 052) 
Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner 
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. ..FILED 

.COURT OF APPEALS 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE o:J1Wx'mHNGTON 

DIVISION II 
2015JANI3 AMJI:J2 

STATE OF WASHINGTON,' 

Respondent, 

v. 

CHARLES V. F ~~SWORTH, JR., 

. A pellant. 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

. 8~0 4316~~1 
OEPU 

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION AND 

AMENDING OPINION 

Respondent State moved the court for reconsideration of its October 28, 2014 published in part 

opinion. After review of the records and files herein, we deny the State's motion. 

Fmther, this comt received a letter from Mr. James McFarland, a non-party to this action, indicating 

a typographical error in the Court's opinion. We acknowledge the typographical error and amend the 

reference to "Donald McFarland" on pages 1 and 22 ofthe opinion to state "James McFarland." 

Dated this --+/.u:;.?fk....~.'&!l.---- day of __ !j~d4o::1\.Ad""-" """10.L..:l=~=+----' ~ &DiS" 
I I ·cr-

~c~J;s: ______ _ 
I concur: 

I COIKur in amending the typographical error in the opinion, but dissent to the denial of this motion for 
reconsideration. 

_1A~~-
~v~~rswick, J. u-



flLE~:! 
r.o.•·o-1 ,..,1: t. ~"r·T i\LS 
'J J.Ur; to;,:. ~-:.t ._n 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINW.V:<!>N!II 

DIVISION IT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 

Respondent, 

v. 

CHARLES V. FARNSWORTH, JR., PUBLISHED IN PART OPINIO}J 

A ellant. 

MELNICK, J. - A jury found Charles· Farnsworth -guilty of first degree robbery, and the 

court sentenced him as a persistent offender to life without the possibility of parole. Farnsworth 

appeals, ~guing that the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction.1 Because there was 

insufficient evidence of a threat, we agree with Farnsworth that there is insufficient evidence to 

support his robbery conv~ction. We affirm in part, vacate Farnsworth's robbery conviction, and 

remand for the trial court to sentence Farnsworth on first degree theft. 

Charles Farnsworth and Donald McFarland ran out ofheroin. To get money to buy more, 

they robbed a branch of the Harborstone Credit "Cnion in Tacoma. McFarland, 69 years of age at 

. . 
the time, entered the branch wearing a wig and sunglasses. He approached a teller at the counter 

and handed her a note stating, "No die [sic] packs, no tracking devices, put the money in the bag." 

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 34. Although the teller became confused because McFarland did not 

actually have a bag, the teller handed blln 'about $300 in cash from a drawer. McFarland said 

1 We address Farnsworth's remaining arguments in the unpublished portion of this opinion, 
including his prose statement of additional grounds (SAG). See RAP 10.10. 

1 Facts relevant to the unpublished portion of this opinion are discussed in conjunction with the 
issues presented there. 
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"thank you" and left. 9 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 485. McFarland entered a truck driven by 

59-year-old Farnsworth, and together they left the scene. A few blocks away, they were pulled 

over and arrested. 

The State charged both Farnsworth and McFarland with first degree robbery. Farnsworth's 

case went to trial. McFarland pleaded guilty to first degree theft and agreed to testify in 

Farnsworth's trial. 3 

According to McFarland, he and Farnsworth had no money and had been eyicted from the 

trailer they used as a "dope house." 13 RP at 1195. They were miserable from the effects of heroin 

withdrawal. 

On the day of the instant crime, McFarland and Farnsworth spent six hours in the area near 

the credit union planning to steal ;from it. The initial plans called for McFarland to be the driver 

and Farnsworth to enter the credit union wearing a wig Farnsworth bought. But McFarland grew 

frustrated \Vith Farnswort..b.'s incessant "hem-hawi...ng" and fidg~ting with the wig. 13 RP at 1232. 

Finally, McFarland grabbed-the wig and resolved to do the job himself. McFarland put the wig on 

his head and Farnsworth adjusted it forbim. 

Farnsworth then wrote a note and handed it to McFarland. McFarland did not know exactly 

what the note said, but he believed it contained instructions to the teller. McFarland explained that 

. "whenever you're robbing a bank," tellers do exactly what they are told. -14 RP at 1254. 

3 McFarland's guilty plea included charges for both robbery and fust degree theft. The parties 
stipulated in the plea that the State would move to vacate the robbery conviction after McFarland 
complied with his obligations to cooperate with the State. This information was not proVided to 
the jury ~d McFarland testified he only pleaded to theft. In deciding the present case, we rely 
solely on the facts presented at Farnsworth's'trial. 

2 
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The trial court instructed the jury on both first degree robbery and the ~esser included crime 

of first degree theft. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Farnsworth g~ilty of first degree 

.. robbery as an accomplice. 

The sentencing court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law determining that 

Farnsworth was a persistent offender because he had previously committed two most serious 

.. 
offenses. Accordingly, the court sentenced Farnsworth to life in prison with no possibility of 

parole. The sentencing court also imposed legal financial obligations on the basis of a boilerplate 

finding that Farnsworth has an ability or likely future abilitYto pay. 

Farnsworth appeals from his judgment and sentence. 

ANALYSIS 

I. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

Farnsworth argues that the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction as an 

accomplice to first degree robbery. We agree. Considering all of the facts presented to the jury, 

we conclude there is insufficient evidence of a direct, inherent, explicit, or implicit threat to uphold 

a conviction for robbery. There is .also insufficient evidence that Farnsworth agreed to participate 

in any crime other than a theft.from a financial institution. Accordingly, we hold that there is 

insufficient evidence to support Farnsworth's robbery conviction. 

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction, we 

examine the record to decide whether any rational fact fJ.+lder could have found that the State 

proved each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 

560 (1979)). In a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, the defendant admits the truth of all the 

3 
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State's evidence; therefore, we consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in the 

light most favorable to the State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 

Further~ direct evidence and circumstantial evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 

Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). 

The term "robbery" is defined in RCW 9A.56.190.4 

A person commits robbery when he or she unlawfully takes personal property from 
the person of another or in his or her presence against his or her will by the use or 
threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear of injury to that person or his · 
or her property or the person or property of anyone. Such force or fear must be 
used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome 
resistance to the taking; in either of which tases the degree of force is immaterial. 

(Emphasis added). 

A robbery conviction can be supported by evidence of any tbieat that induces a,n owner to 

part with his P.roperty. State -v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 293,.830 P.2d 641 (1992). The 

criminal code defines a threat to incl~de any direct or indirect communication of intent to cause 
. . 
bodily' injury, t? damage property, or to physically confine or restrain another person. RCW 

9A.04.110(~8)(a)-(c). Thus, when a rational fact finder could reasonably infer from the evidence 

that a defendant's note made an implied threat to a bank teller, the evidence is sufficient to establish 

the·disputed element ofrobbezy. State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn: App; 619, 628-29, 191 P.3d 99 

(2008). 

4 The legislature amended RCW 9A.56.190 in 2011 to inse1i gender-neutral language. LAWS o:F 
2011, ch. 336, § 379. The amendment does not affect this analysis. 

4 
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Here, when viewing the. evidence in the light most favorable to the State, McFarland and 

Farnsworth intended to steal money from a financial institution.5 · The original plan involved 

.Farnsworth putting on a disguise, entering the financial institution, and presenting the teller with 

a demand note. Farnsworth wrote the note, which said, ''No die [sic] packs, no tracking devices, 

put the money in the bag." CP at 34. However, when it cametime to execute the plan, McFarland 

became frustrated with Farnsworth. As a result, McFarland wore the disguise, entered the bank,. 

and made the demand. The teller became f-rightened and handed money to McFarland. He then 

exited the bank and entered the vehicle driven by Farnsworth. 

The present circumstances differ from Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, and State v. 

Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. 546, 966 P.2d 905 (1997). In Shchetenkov, this court found the 

evidence sufficient to support convictions following four bank robberies where no force or 

violence was used: 146 Wn. App. at 622. In three of the robberies, the robber passed each bank· 

teller a note that stated in part, "This is a robbery." Shcheren.kov, 146 Wn. App. at 622-23. In the 

fourth, the robber's note stated in its entirety, "Place $4,000 in an envelope. Do not make any 

sudden movements or actions. I will be watching you." Shclierenkov, 146 Wn. App. at 629. The 

robb~r also kept his han? in his pocket, causing the tellers to believe he had a gun. Shcherenkov, 

146 Wn. App. at 622-23. This court held that a rational fact finder could reasonably infer that each 

·of the four notes indirectly communicated a threat to use force if the teller failed to comply and 

the robber insinuated he had a weapon by keeping his hand in his pocket. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. 

App. at 628-29. 

5 The fact McFarland said they were planning a ''bank robbery" is irrelevant to our resolution of 
the case. It is a colloquialism similar to people sa~g their house was robbed when they really 
meZj.D.t it was burglarized. 

5 
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Likewise, in Collinsworth, the court found the evidence sufficient to support robbery 

convictions where a robber, in six separate incidents, verlially demanded cash from a bank teller, 

without displaying a weapon or articulating an overt threat. 90 Wn. App. at 553-54. In three of 

the robberies, the robber used a "direct," "demanding,"_9r "serious" voice. Collinsworth, 90 Wn. 

App. at 548-50. In two of them, the robber told the teller he "was serious" after the teller failed to 

immediately comply. Collins-Worth, 90 Wn. App. at 548, 550. NJ.d, two of the tellers believed the 

robber was armed although they did not actually se.e a weapon. Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. at 549-

50. In all six incidents, the teller testified either to feeling personally threatened or to fearing for 

the safety of others. Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. at 548M51. And in four of the six incidents, the 

teller gave the robber money in accordance with abank policy of cqmpliance with such demands. 

Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. at 548-50. 

Here, there is insufficient evidence for a reasonable ·trier of fact to fmd the State proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt that Farnsworth planned to communicate to the teller an intent to use 

or threaten to use immediate force, violence, or fear of injury. McFarland simply handed over a 

note instructing the teller to "put the money in the bag." CP at 34. McFarland did not insinuate 

that he would take further action if the teller did not comply with the note's instructions. Unlike 

the tellers in Shcherenkov and Collinsworth who, based on the defendant's actions, believed the 

1:obbers may have been armed, there is no such testimony here. And, in fact, there is no evidence 

that McFarland made threats or used violence. After receiving the money, he said, "Thank you.'~ 

9 RP 485. 

Contrary to the dissent's argument, the facts of this case do not show even a slight tbreat, 

either implicit or explicit. The dissent implies a threat based on the victim's reactions and not the 

6 
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defendant's actions. Unquestionably and justifiably the victim was scared; however, there is 

nothing in the record, directly or circumstantially, to support a reasonable trier of fact finding 

beyond a r~asonable doubt that McFarland made an implied threat to use force, violence, or fear 

of injury to any person. 

Another major distinguishing factor in this case from the preceding two cases is that 

Farnsworth acted as an accomplice, not a principal. 

A person may be liable for the acts of another if he or she is an accomplice. RCW 

9A.08.020(1), (2)(c). A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a crime 

if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she aids or . .· . 

agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing it. RCW 9A.08.020(3). 

"But, the accomplice liability statute has been construed to apply solely when the 

accomplice acts with knowledge of the specific crime that is eventually charged, rather :than with 

knowledge of a different crime or generalized knowledge_ of criminal aGtivity." State v. Holcomb, 

180 Wn. App. 583, 590, 321 P.3d 1288, review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1029 (2014); State v. Cronin, 

142 Wn.2d 568,578-79, 14 P.3d 752 (2000); State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d471, 512; 14 P.3d 713 

(2000). "And the required aid or agre~ment to .aid the other person must be 'in planning or 

committing [the crime]."' Holcomb, 180 Wn. App. at 590 (quoting RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii)). 

7 
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To convict a person of robbery as an accomplice, the State must prove at trial, among other 

elements, that the accomplice knew that the principal intended the use or threatened use of 

immediate force, violence, or fear of injury in taking or retaining property.6 RCW 9A.56.190. 

There is no evidence that Farnsworth ever agreed to aid, abet, or encourage the commission 

of a crime that involved the use or threatened use of force, violence, or fear of injury. The dissent 

lists evidence showing that McFarland and Farnsworth planned to steal from the bank. Dissent at 

5-6. But the evidence does not show that the plan involved force or the threatened use of force. 

We cannot say that when the plan merely calls for the principal to hand a "demand note" to a teller 

of a financial institution t.~at a robbery occurs. . 

Farnsworth further argues that by implying a threat in this situation any theft from a 

financial institution would be a·robbery. We agree that a robbery conviction under these facts 

6 Contrary to the dissent's characterization of our position, we agree that the State need not prove 
the defendant had specific. knowledge of every element. However, a's an accomplice, the State 
must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Farnsworth aided or agreed to aid McFarland in 
committing a specific crime, namely, a robbery and not a theft. In addition, 

We acL.1.ere to the rule of [State v. Davis, 101 Wn.2d 654, 682 P .2d 883 (1984)} and 
[State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 683 P.2d 199 (1984)]: an accomplice need not have 
knowledge of each element of the principal's crime in order to be convicted under 
RCW 9A.08.020. General knowledge of 'the crime' is sufficient. Nevertheless, 
knowledge by the accpmplice that the principal intends to commit 'a crime' does 
not impose strict liability for any and all offenses that follow. Such an interpretation 
is contrary to the statute's plain language, its legislative history, and supporting case 
law. 

Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 513. 

8 
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would blur the line between theft and robbery.7 Vje hold there is insufficient evidence to support 

Farnsworth's robbery conviction .. 

Next, we consider the appropriate remedy. We may remand for sentencing on a lesser 

included offense where (1) the trial court instructed the jury on the lesser included offense and (2) 

the.jury necessarily considered the elements of the offense in findmg the defendant guilty of the 

greater offense. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216,234-35,616 P.2d 628 (1980). Here; the trial court 

instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of first degree theft. The jury was instructed that 

one of the elements offirst degree robbery is whether the defendant intended to commit theft of 

the property. Accordingly, in finding Farnsworth guilty of first degree robbery, the jury 

necessarily considered the elements of first degree theft. Therefore, we remand for sentencing on 

the lesser included offense of first degree theft. 

. A majority of the panel having deterrnin_ed that only the foregoing portion of this opinion will 

be printed in the Washington Appellate Reports and that the remainder shall be filed for public record 

in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

ADDITIONAL FACTS 

McFarland explained his reasons for testifying. First, he did not like Farnsworth "because 

he was a freeloader" who never contributed to expenses. 13 RP at 1193. Second,. a robbery 

conviction would have been McFarland's third strike, resulting in a life sentence. By testifying, 

McFarland hoped to convince the State to drop some of the charges against him. If McFarland's 

testitnony complied with an agreement he made with the State, he would receive an 8- to 1 0-year 

7 ]j the legislature wants to define all thefts from financial institutions as robberies, it may act 
ac~ordingly. It has not done so. 

9 
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sentence. Thlrd, McFarland wasangry at Farnsworth for writing a statement for the:police; 

because McFarland only learned of Farnsworth's statement through discovery, he believed 

Farnsworth was setting him up to take the fall alone. Fourth, Farnsworth acted rudely towards 

McFarland while they were both at Western State Hosp~tal awaiting trial. 

To cross-examine McFarland, Farnsworth sought to admit McFarland's statement on plea 

of guilty. The trial court excluded the statement under ER 403, ruling that it was confusing, 

misleading, and irrelevant. Farnsworth also attempted to offer evidence of McFarhp:1d's prior 

convictions for theft and possession of stolen property. The trial court rejected this evidence under 

ER609. 

The State called one of its police detectives, who is also a forensic handwriting ex~ert, to 

testify about whether Farnsworth wrote the note given to the teller. The trial court ordered 

Farnsworth to provide a handwriting sample. The detective testified that Farnsworth refused to 

provide a handWriting sample or talk to the detective, except to complain that he had not received 

documents he had requested. . 

Thr'oughout the trial, Farnsworth sat in a wooden chair while the attorneys sat in leather 

chairs with wheels. Farnsworth objected, and courtroom security personnel explained that they 

preferred to have defendants s~t in wooden chairs, to prevent them from "get[ting] the jump and 

becom[ing] a security issue for all of us.~' RP (Oct. 12, 2011) at 9. The trial court denied 

Farnsworth's objection and explained that the chair was not conspicuous and did not signify guilt 

in the way that handcuffs or shackles do. The trial court offered to give Farnsworth's counsel a 

wooden chair, but counsel declined. 

10 
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I. CUM1JLA TIVE ERROR 

In his supplemental brief, Farnswo~ argues that the cumulative effect of numerous errors 

deprived him of the right to a fair trial. We disagree. 

The cumulative error doctrine warrants reversal of a defendant's conviction where the 

combined effect of several errors deprived the defendant of a fair trial, even though no error 

standing alone would warrant reversal. State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000) 

(citing State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984)). When applying the C11ID;ulative 

error doctrine, we consider errors committed by the trial court as well as instances of misconduct 

by other participants, such as prosecutors or witnesses. See Greiff, 141 Wn.2d at 929 (collecting 

cases); State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 520, 228 P.3d 813 (2010). 

A Claimed Trial Errors 

Farnsworth argues that he was deprived of a fair trial by the cumulative effect of six 

claimed errors: (1) the trial court refused to admit McFarland's plea agreement into evidence; (2) 

the trial court refused Farnsworth's request to introduce evidence ofMcF arland' s prio~ convicti.on.S 

for crimes of dishonesty; (3) the prosecutor's opening statement contained a prejudicial assertion 

that was not supported by the testimony elicited at trial; (4) McFarland testified to Farnsworth's 

rude conduct toward him when they encountered each other at Western State Hospital before the 

trial; (5) the trial court violated Farnsworth's right to remain silent by admitting testimony of 

state"ments he made to a detective while refusing to give a handwriting ·sample; and (6) the trial 

court violated Farnsworth's presumption of innocence by requiring him·to sit in· a hard wooden 

chair in the courtroom. We hold that only one error occurred, when the trial court refused to admit 
) 

evidence of McFarland's prior conviction for !heft. 

11 
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For the most part, Farnsworth claims that the tri~ court made erroneous evidentiary rulings. 

We review evidentiary rulings for an abu~e of discretion. State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 

41 P .3d 1189 (2002). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly 

unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or made for untenable reasons. Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 

619. A trial court necessarily abuses its discretion when basing its ruling on an error oflaw. State 

v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008). 

1. Cross-Examination on McFarland's Plea Agreement 

Farnsworth first claims that the trial court erred by excluding McFarland's plea agreement 

and thus preventing Farnsworth from meaningfully cross-examining McFarland. We disagree. 

A defendant's constitutional right to be confronted with the witnesses against him includes 

the opportunity to impeach the State's witnesses on cross-examination. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 

308, 316-17, 94 S. Ct. l105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). Accordingly, a defendant is entitled to an 

oppmiunity "to expose to the jury the facts from which jmors, as the sole triers of fact and 

credibility, could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness." Davis, 

415 U.S. at 318. 

However, the scope of cross-examination is limited by general considerations of relevance. 

Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 621 (citing ER 401 and 403). To be admissible, evidence must be relevant: 

it must have any tendency to make the existence of any fact in consequence more probable or less 

probable. ER 401, 402. But relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is 

substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudi~e, confusion of the issues, or misleading 

thejury. ER403. 
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Farnsworth sought to admit McFarland's statement on plea of guilty, which contradicted 

McFarland's testimony of his own understanding of the terms ofhis plea agreement. . On direct 

examination, McFarland testified that he was facing a robbery charge, which would have counted 

as a third strike resulting in a life sentence without possibility of release. McFarland understood 

that ifhe performed the terms of his plea agreement, his sentence ~ould instead be only 8- to 10-

years. However, McFarland's statement on plea of guilty mcluded pleas to both robbery and theft. 

Outside. the presence of the jury, the State and McFarland's attorney concurred that 

. McFarland's testimony correctly stated the end result of the. plea agreement, but not its mechanics. 

In light of the explanation of the plea agreement, the trial court excluded McFarland's statement 

on plea of guilty agreement under ER 401 and 403, ruling that it was confusing, misleading, and 

irrelevant. 

Contrary to Farnsworth's claim, the jury was fully informed that McFarland needed to 

perform his obligations by testifying against Farnsworth in order to receive an 8- to 1 0-year 

sentence. Thus, the ju..ry was aware of facts from which it could infer that Farnsworth was biased 

and not credible. See Davis, 415 U.S. at318. The trial court's ~xclusion.ofMcFarland's statement 

on plea of guilty did not prevent Farnsworth from meaningfully c:t;oss-examining Farnsworth. 

Therefore, this claim of evidentiary error fails. 
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2. Evidence of McFarland's Prior Crimes of Dishonesty 

Farnsworth next argues that the trial court erred by excluding evidence that McFarland had 

previously been convicted of two crimes of dishonesty: theft and possession of stolen property. 

We agree only as to McFarland's theft conviction. 

Under ER 609, evidence that a witness previously committed a crime of dishonesty can be 

admissible for impeachment purposes. State v: Jones, 101 Wn.2d 113, 117, 677 P.3d 131 (1984), 

overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown, 111 Wn.2d 124, 761 P.2d 588 (1988). In general, 

evidence of a prior conviction is admissible if (1) the crime was punishable by more than one year 

in prison and the court determines that its probative value outweighs 'the ·prejudice to the party 

against whom the evidence is offered or (2) the crime involved dishonesty or false statement. ER 

609(a). 

a. Theft Conviction 

Farnsworth offered evidence of McFarland's 2005 misdemeanor theft conviction, 

·.punishable by notmore than one year. The trial court interpreted ER 609(a) to mean that prior- · 

conviction evidence is admissible only if the conviction was punishable by more than one year; 

thus, it rejected the evidence even though theft was a crime of dishonesty. But the trial court's 

interpretation was clear error. Evidence of a prior crime of dishonesty is "automatically 

admissible" whether or not it was punishable by more than one year. Jones, 101 Wn.2d at 117. 
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b. Convictions for P,ossession ofStolen Property 

Farnsworth also offered evidence that McFarland had been convicted in 1987, 1988, and 

1989 of felony possession of stolen property. The trial court refused this evidence because more 

than 10 years had elapsed since the end ofMcFarland'-s term of confinement for those crimes. The 

trial court did not err. 

ER 609(a)'s general rule of admissibility is subject to a time limit. Under ER 609(b), 

evidence of a prior conviction is not admissible when 10 years have elapsed since the date of the 

conviction or the witness's release from confinement, whichever is later-"unless the court 

determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the convic~ion supported by 

specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect." 

Farnsworth argues that the 1 0-year time period should have been tolled from 1990 to 2003, 

· the period when McFarland was confined for a number of offenses including possession of stolen 

property and kidnapping. We dis'agree. 

When a witness had been convicted of multiple crimes; the 10-year time limit is judged 

separately for each offense. State v. Russell, 104 Wn. App. 422, 432, 16 P.3d 664 (2001). 

Farnsworth's trial counsel conceded that more than 10 years had elapsed between the time 

McFarland finished serving his time for the possession of stolen proper:tJ offenses and the time of 

Fa.J.nsworth' s trial. Therefore, McFarland's possession of stolen property convictions were outside 

ER 609(b )'s 1 0-year time limit. The trial court did not err by refusing ta admit them. · 

Farnsworth further argues that the trial court erred by failing to determine whether the . . 

probative value of McFarland's convictions substantially outweighed their prejudicial effect. But 

ER 609(b) requires the trial court to make tha~ determination only if it admits the evidence in the 
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interests of justice. Because the trial court excluded the evidence as outside the time limit, 

Farnsworth's argument fails. 

3. Prosecutor's Opening Statement 

Next, Farnsworth claims that the prosecutor improperly asserted during opening argument 

that the evidence would show Farnsworth had used a wig and sunglasses in two prior robberies he 

committed. Farnsworth claims the assertion was improper because (1) the trial court erred by 

ruling before the trial that such evidence would be admissible and (2) the State failed to elicit 

evidence supporting it. We disagree. 

First, the pretrial ruling was not erroneous. UnderER 404(b), evidence of prior acts is not 

admissible to show that a person acted in conformity with his character. State v. 

~verybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d456, 466, 39P.3d 294 (2002). However, evidence ofprior acts 

may be admissible for other purposes. ER 404(b); State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 

P.3d 786 (2007). ER 404(b) blocks the State from suggesting that the defendant is guilty because 

he is "a criminal-type person," but it does not deprive the State ofrelevant evidence necessary to 

establish an element of its case . . Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 175. 

Before admitting evidence of a prior act, the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance 

of t.~e evidence that the prior act occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is 

offered, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the charged offense, 

and (4) weigh the probative v~lue of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. State v. Thang, 

145 Wn.2d. 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002). Here the trial court (1) found by a preponderance of 

the evidence that Farnsworth committed two prior robberies while wearing a wig and sunglasses, 

(2) determined that the evidence was offered to show Farnsworth's knowledge of McFarland's 

16 



43167-0-II 

intentions when entering the credit union, (3) found that Farnsworth's knowledge was relevant to 

the issue of whether he was McFarland's accomplice, and (4) determined that, because Farnsworth 

denied knowing that McFarland was going to rob the credit union, the evidence was highly 

probative of Farnsworth's knowledge, to a degree that outweighed the prejudicial effect of 

suggesting that Farnsworth "is a bad guy." 4 RP at 160. Thus, the trial court allowed the State to 

offer evidence of Farnsworth's two prior robberies. 

In challenging this ruling, Farnsworth argues that the probative value was minimal and the 

prejudicial effect was great. But Farnsworth does not explain how the trial court's ruling was an 

abuse of its discretion. Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 619. Therefore, the ruling was not error. 

Second, the prosecutor did not improperly mention the two prior robberies during the 

State's opening. A prosecutor's opening statement may anticipate what the evidence will show, 

so long as the prosecutor has a good faith belief that such evidence will be produced at trial. State 

v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15-16, 691 P.2d 929 (1984). The defendant bears the burden of 

showing that the prosecutor acted in bad faith. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d at 16. Because Farnsworth 

never claimed that the prosecutor acted in bad faith, this argument fails. 

4. Farnsworth's Rude Conduct 

Farnsworth next argues that the trial court .violated ER 404(b) by allowing McFarland to 

. ' 
testify about Farnsv.,rorth's rude conduct towards him while they both were held at Wes~em State 

Hospital awaiting trial. During the encounter, Farnsworth "flipped [McFarland] the bird"; 

removed his own pants and "grabbed his private parts"; said, "'Suck on these you son of a bitch"'; 

and called McFarland a "stool pigeon." 15 RP at 1430. We reject Farnsworth's argument. 
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Here, the trial. court did not violate ER 404(b) because it did not admit ~vidence of 

Farnsworth's rude conduct to show that Farnsworth acted in conformity with his character. 

Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 175. Instead, the trial court admitted this evidence because it was 

probative of McFarland's motives for testifying against Farnsworth. Farnsworth claims that the 

State "overstated" the probative value of the evidence for this purpose, but he fails to explain how . 

the trial court's ruling was an abuse of discretion. This argument fails. 

5. Farnsworth's Right to Remain Silent 

Farnsworth further claims that his constitutional right to remain silent was violated by the 

' admission of statements he made to a detective while refusing to comply'.with a court order to 

provide a handwriting exemplar. We disagree. 

Farnsworth concedes that evidence of a defendant's refusal to comply with a court order 

to obtain information may be admissible_. Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 763-64, 86 S. 

Ct. 1826, 16 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1966). But he argues that the detective improperly testified to 

Farnsworth's statements that went beyond the mere act of refusal. According to Farnsworth, these 

additional statements were prejudicial because they por1;rayed Farnsworth as "uncooperative and 

troublesome.;, Supp. Br. of Appellant at 27: 

But as the State asserts, Farnsworth did not object below to the detective's testimony on 

·this ground. Therefore, Farnsworth cannot predicate a·claim of error on this ground. ER 103(a) .. 

Moreover, Farnsworth fails to explain ·how his right to remain silent was violated. This argument 

fails. 
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6. Presumption of Innocence 

Lastly, Farnsworth claims that the trial court destroyed the presumption of innocence 

because during the trial Farnsworth sat in "a hard wooden chair," while the attorneys sat in "padded 

black leather chairs with wheels." Supp. Br. of Appellant at 28. We disagree. 

A court violates the presumption of innocence if a criminal defendant lacks "the 

appearance, dignity, and self-respect of a free and innocent man." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 

844, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). In the jury's presence, it maybe improper to "single out a defendant as 

a particularly dangerous or guilty person." Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 845. Because a wooden chair 

does not identify a dangerous or guilty person, this argumentfails. 

B. The Cumulative Error Doctrine Does Not Warrant Reversal Here 

Cumulative error warrants reversal of a conviction when the def~ndant was denied a fair 

trial. Greiff, 141 \Vn.2d at 929. A. defendant was denied a fair trial if, considering the trial's full 

scope, the combined effect of the errors materially affected the trial's outcome. See State v. 

Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Thus a defendantis more likely to be prejudiced 

by the effect of cumulative errors where the 'case against the defendant is weak. United St'ates v. 

Frederick, 78 F.3d 1370, 1381 (9th Cir. 1996). But the cumulative error doctrine does not warrant 

reversal when a trial has few errors with little or no impact on the outcome. State v. Weber, 159 

Wn.2d 252,279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). 

As explained above, the trial here included only one error: the exclusion of evidence that 

McFarland had been convicted of misdemeanor theft i.mder ER 609(a). FarnsworttJ, does not argue 

that this error, standing alone, deprived him of a fair trial or materially affected the trial's outcome. 

Thus, his cumulative error argument fails. 
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Moreover, the lone error was harmless. On direct examination, McFarland admitted that 

he engaged in "hustling" to support his heroin addiction. 13 RP at 1204-05. McFarland elaborated 

that he did "[w]hat they call 'boosting,' shoplifting, busting meat, stuff like this. And stole things; 

sold them. Different things, you know. It was anything that you could do to where we could come 

up with enough money to get a [heroin] fix to get well." 13 RP at 1205. McFarland further testified 

that he had previously been convicted of first degree burglary· and frrst degree robbery. Given 

McFarland's admitted stealing and convictions, evidence of his theft conviction would have been 

merely cumulative on the issue of McFarland's character for truthfulness. 

II. COMJ>ARABILITY OF FOREIGN CONVICTION TO A MOST SERIOUS OFFENSE 

Farnsworth next challenges his sentence as a persistent offender. Because we vacate his 

frrst degree robbery conviction and first degr.ee theft is not a most serious offense under the 

persistent offender act, Farnsworth is no longer subject to sentencing as a persistent .offender. 

RCW 9.94A.030(32); RCW 9A.56.030(2). Therefore, we do not reach this issue. 

III. LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

In his pro se statement of additional grounds, Farnsworth relies on State v. Bertrand, 1,65 

Wn. App. 393,267 P.3d 511, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012), to argue the record fails to 

support the trial court's boilerplate finding of his ability to pay his legal financial obligations. 

Because he did not object in the trial ~curt, Farnsworth failed to preserve this argument for review.8 

8 In addition, Farnsworth claims that the trial court's boilerplate :finding "violates his equal 
protection rights because he is disabled and unable to pay." SAG at 13. But Farnsworth cites no 
authority to support his equal protection claim. Therefore we do not consider it. Cowiche Canyon 
Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). 
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We recently decided that, under RAP 2.5(a), a defendant is not entitled to challenge for the 

first time on appeal the imposition of legal financial obligations on the basis ·of a boilerplate 

finding. State v. Blazina, 174 Wn. App. 906,911, 301 P.3d492, review granted, 178 Wn.2d 1010 

(2013). We follow our decision in Blazina and decline to consider Farnsworth's argument. 

We affirm in part, vacate Farnsworth's robbery conviction, and remand for the trial court 

to sentence Farnsworth on first degree theft. 

~~~-
Melnick, J. J 

I concur: 
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WORSWICK, J. (dissenting in part)- The majority holds that, as a matter of law, a person 

does not commit a robbery when be obtains money by entering a bank wearing a disguise and 

handing a bank teller a note demanding the unconditional surrender of money to which he bas no 

conceivable claim. I respectfully disagree. 

I would hold that sufficient evidence supports Charles Farnsworth's robbery conviction. 

Because I would affirm this conviction, I would also reach Farnsworth's challenge to his· sentence 

as a persistent offender. But I agree with the majority as to all other issues decided in the 

unpublished portion of its opinion. 

The majority states the correct rules governing our review of Farnsworth's sufficiency of 

. the evidence claim. We must decide whether any rational trier of fact could have foimd that the 

State proved each element of robbery beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). By making this claim, Farnsworth has admitted the truth of all the 

State's evidence, and we must draw all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the 

State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192,201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial evidence and 

direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 \Vn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). 

However, the majority misapplies the~e rules in deciding that there was insufficient proof 

of (1) a threat communicated by Donald McF.arland and (2) Fan1swortb's complicity, which 

requires his knowledge that his actions would promote or facilitate McFarland's robbery. In my 

opinion, a rational trier of fact could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the State proved 

both issues. 
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A Threat· 

Before examining the evidence of McFarland's threat, it is necessary to address the 

majority's concern that the elements ofrobbery could be interpreted too broadly. The majority 

asserts that "a robbery conviction under these facts would blur the line between theft and robbery." 

Majority at 8-9. 

A recitation of the elements of theft and robbery shows t?atthis concern is unfounded. A 

defendant commits theft when he wrongfully takes property from another person with intent to. 

deprive the person of the property. · RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). In contrast, a defendant commits 

robbery when he unlawfully takes property from another person against the person's will "by the 

use or threatened use of immediate force, violence, or fear ofinjury." Former RCW 9A.56.190 

(1975) (emphasis added). 

Thus when any ibreat-"no matter how sliih.t"-induces a person to part with his property, 

a robbery has occurred. State v. Handburgh, 119 Wn.2d 284, 293, 830 P.2d 641 (1992). Former 

· RCW 9A.04.110(27)(a) (2007) defines a threat to include any direct or indirect communication of 

intent to cause bodily injury to the person threatened or to any other person. As the majority 

recognizes, a threat may be implied or explicit. State v. Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, 628-29, 

191 P.3d 99 (2008). 

Because McFarland did. not make an explicit threat, the issue here is whether McFarland 

obtained money from the teller by making an implied threat to use force, violence, or fear of injury. 

I agree with the majority that the evidence is sufficient to establish this element of robbery when 

(1) it shows a defendant gave a note to a bank. teller and (2) a rational trier of fact could reasonably 

infer that the note implied a threat. Shcheren.kov, 146 Wn. App. at 628-29. 
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I disagree, however, with the majority's conclusion that it is unreasonable for any rational 

trier of fact to infer a threat here. McFarland gave the teller a note stating, ''No die packs, no 

tracking devices, put the money in the bag." Clerk's Papers at 34. This is a naked demand for 

money, unsupported by any claim of right. I agree with Division One of this court that it is 

reasonable for a rational trier of fact to infer that such a demand is "fraught V\T]_th the implicit threat 

to use force." State v. Coliinsworth, 90 Wn. App. 546, 553, 966 P.2d 905 (1997) (per curiam). 

Indeed, without the implicit threat to use force, it is difficUlt to imagine why the teller woUld 

comply with the note's demand for money. 

Nonetheless, Farnsworth asserts that the teller gave McFarland money simply because it 

was the credit union's policy to 'comply with any note's demand-. not because McFarland made a 

threat. But the teller's testimony contradicts this assertion. The teller complied because she 

'"didn't want anybody else to get harmed, and [she] didn't know what he was capable of doing." 

9 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 486. Moreover, because the policy allowed a robber to "get out 

as quick as possible so nobody else can get harmed," the policy itself recognized that a naked 

demand for the bank's money conveys a threat of violence .. 9 RP at 486. 

Further, under the circumstances in which McFarland delivered the note, it is all the more 

~easonable to infer that McFarland communicated a threat. As soon as McFarland entered the 

credit union, the teller became suspicious because he was wearing a wig and dark sunglasses while 

"looking around acting all fidgety." 9 RP at 477. When McFarland approached the teller at her 

counter, he kept his. arms crossed and leaned over the counter "[p]ast [her] comfort zone." 9 RP 

at 480. Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, testimony that a man in disguise made the 
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teller physically uncomfortable bolsters the reasonable inference that the man communicated an 

implied threat ofviolence.9 

. . 
In addition, the majority's analysis is flawed in one important respect when it distinguishes 

this case from Shcherenkov, 146 Wn. App. 619, and Collinsworth, 90 Wn. App. 546 .. The majority 

considers only the direct evidence, without drawing any inferences from it. But we are require~ 

to draw all reasonable inferences in the State's favor and to consider direct and circumstantial 

evidence equally reliable. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201; Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d at 638. 

Lastly, I note that the majority's analysis of the evidence in this case omits substantive 

analysis regarding the conclusions that a rational trier of fact could form .. This omission matters 

because the sufficiency of the evidence inquiry is limited to protecting the constitutional standard 

of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221. Thus we are not to weigh the 

evidence to decide what we believe it proved; instead we must decide whether "'any rational trier 

of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."' Green, 

94 Wn.2d at 221-22 (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319,99 S. Ct. 2781,61 L. Ed. 2d 

560 (1979)). ·Because I would hold that a rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable 

doubt that McFarland communicated an implied threat, I would affirm Farnsworth's robbery 

conviction. 

9 The majority acknowledges that the teller was "justifiably" sccp:ed. Majority at 7. 
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B. Complicity 

The majority further decides that the evidence is insufficient to show that Farnsworth was 

an accomplice to McFarland's robbery. As an initial matter, I note that neither party raised or 

briefed this issue. In addition, I disagree with the majority's analysis. 

A defendant is liable as an accomplice for another person's crime if the defendant (1) 

"[a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in·plru.ming or committing it" and (2) bas "knowledge 

that it will promote cir facilitate the commission of the crime." . RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii). 

Complicity requires merely general knowledge of the principal's crime, not actual knowledge of 

each specific element. State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 513, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). 10 But the 

majority ignores this rule in concluding that the evidence is insufficient to show that Farnsworth 

knew McFarland would use or threaten to use force, violence, or fear of injury. 

I disagree with the majority's assertion that "[t]he fact McFarland said they were planning 

a 'bank robbery' is irrelevant to our resolution of the case." Majority at 5 n.5. We are required to 

examine the evidence· in the record when we consider the sufficiency of the evidence. Green, 94 

Wn,2d at 221. And McFarland's testimony about the plans he made with Farnsworth is clearly 

relevant to Farnsworth's general knowledge of McFarland's crime . . See Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 

513. 

10 The majority reads Roberts as standing for an entirely different proposition: that the State must 
show the accomplice's knowledge of each element of the principal's crime. But Roberts expressly 
rejected this proposition; instead, it adhered to the rules of State v. Davis, 101 Wn.2d 654, 682 
P.2d 883 (1984), and State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 683 P.2d 199 (1984). Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 
511-13. 
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The evidence here is more than sufficient.to prove Farnsworth's complicity. McFarland 

testified that ·he had been struggling f9r months to pay for heroin and living expenses, while 

Farnsworth consumed heroin without paying for it. According to McFarland, Farnsworth 

. . 
explained his inability to pay by repeatedly saying, "Well, if I had a gun, I'd do a robbery, I'd do 

a r.obbery, I'd do a robbery." 13 RP at 1201. Although McFarland believed Farnsworth was 

merely boasting, F~sworth bought a wig and remarked, "[A]ll I need is a gun." 13 RP at 1237. 

Eventually McFarland became so desp'erate that he began listening to Farnsworth and 
. . 

agreed to help him "do the robbery." 13 RP at 1207. Together, Farnsworth and McFarland cased 

two banks before choosing the one to rob. 

The initial plan called for McFarland to drive and for Farnsworth to commit the robbery 

"[b]ecause it was his deaL He was the one always talking aboutihe robbery." 13 RP at 1207. But 

on the day of the robbery, McFarland's brother forbade him from driving because he was too 

drunk; Farnsworth drove instead. 

\ 

At one point, McFarland and Farnsworth planned to ·use a bicycle to flee the bank. 

Farnsworth tested the bicycle by riding it out of McFarland's sight, and when Farnsworth returned 

the bike was broken. Although McFarland understood that Farnsworth would rob the bank, 

Farnsworth repeatedly backed out by making excuses for not ·going into the bank. Because 

Farnsworth was "an expert at .~sing people," McFarland suspected that Farnsworth may have 

intentionally broken the bicycle and backed out so that McFarland would become frustrated and 

perform the robbery himself. 13 RP at 1230. 
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· Fed up with Farnsworth's "hem and hawing," McFarland grabbed the wig, put it on, and 

dec;ided to rob the bank himself. 13 RP at 1233. Farnsworth helped by adjusting the wig on 

McFarland's head before McFarland entered the bank to rob it. 

Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, this evidence shows that (1) Farnsworth 

aided McFarland in planning and committing the .bank robbery and (2) Farnsworth had general 

knowledge that his actions would promote or facilitate this crime. See RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii); . 

Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 513. Therefore the evidence is sufficient to prove Farnsworth's complicity. 

Even if the State were required to prove that Farnsworth had specific knowledge of each 

element of McFarland's robbery, as the majority suggests, I would find the evidence here 

sufficient. F arnswortb wrote the note that McFarland ultimately handed to the teller. As explained · 

above, I would hold that a rational trier of fact could reasonably infer that the note communicated 

an implied threat. I would also hoid that a rational trier of fact could conclude beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Frunsworth knew that writing the note woUld promote qr facilitate the implied threat 

that McFarland communicated by delivering the note to the teller. 

I would affirm Farnsworth's robbery conviction and reach the sentencing issues. 
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Sent: Wednesday, March 11, 2015 4:11 PM 
To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK 
Cc: PCpatcecf@co.pierce.wa.us; Nancy Collins 
Subject: 912971-FARNSWORTH-ANSWER TO PETITION 

To the Clerk of the Court: 

Please accept the attached document for filing in the above-subject case: 

Answer to Petition for Review and Cross-Petition 

Nancy P. Collins- WSBA #28806 
Attorney for Respondent 

Phone: (206) 587-2711 
E-mail: nancy@washapp.org 

By 

fVlo.-yi.tv AYYtM'\-Ztw Ru.e...y 
Staff Paralegal 
Washington Appellate Project 
Phone: (206) 587-2711 
Fax: (206) 587-2710 
E-mail: maria@washapp.org 
Website: www.washapp.org 
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